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SUMMARY DESCRIPTION 

The 1,704-acre Albemarle & Chesapeake (A&C) Canal Historic District is located in the City of 
Chesapeake in southeastern Tidewater Virginia. The linear district extends from Great Bridge 
Bridge on the west to the North Landing Bridge and the Virginia Beach City limits on the east. The 
A&C Canal Historic District contains 1 1 contributing resources and 1 previously National Register- 
listed site that also is contributing-3 structures, 8 buildings, and I site. The 9.1-mile-long and 90- 
foot-wide Virginia Cut of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal, aman-made waterway constructed in 
1859, is a contributing structure. The 600-foot-long Great Bridge Canal Lock, built in 1931-1932, is 
a contributing structure. The North Landing Bridge, built in 195 1, is also a contributing structure. 
The Great Bridge Army Corps of Engineers Reservation consists of 8 contributing buildings 
constructed between 1917 and 1948. The Battle of Great Bridge Site is a contributing site and is 
previously listed in the National Register. The district also contains 4 non-contributing buildings and 
4 non-contributing structures. 

GENERAL DESCFUPTION 

The Albemarle and Chesapeake Canal is part of the federally authorized and operated Atlantic 
Intracoastal Waterway and carries heavy commercial traffic as well as some recreational boat traffic. 
The Albemarle and Chesapeake Canal Historic District is located in a low-lying area formerly 
almost entirely composed of swampland that has been drained and filled in since the early nineteenth 
century. The district's western terminus is at the A&C Canal Locks at Great Bridge where the canal 
joins the Southern Branch of the Elizabeth River. Its eastern terminus is at the canal's junction with 
the North Landing River, at the North Landing (Route 165) Bridge and the Virginia Beach corporate 
limits. As a result, the historic district's surroundings vary from the highly developed Great Bridge 
community adjacent to the district's western end, to large undeveloped stands of deciduous forests 
and some remaining swampland on either side of much of the canal property. The 1,704-acre linear 
district extends approximately 100 feet on either side of the canal (with some exceptions) and 
consists ofproperty acquired by the Albemarle and Chesapeake Canal Company in 1855 to construct 
the canal cut. Material from construction of the canal and later dredging was placed along both 
banks, raising the elevation of the lands in this area. The US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) 
acquired this property in 1913 after the canal company went bankrupt. In addition, five north-south 
bridges cross the historic district: four vehicular bridges (carrying from west to east, Battlefield 
Boulevard, Route 168, Centerville Turnpike, and Route 165) and the Norfolk-Southern railroad 
bridge. 

INVENTORY OF RESOURCES 

Contributing and non-contributing resources in the A&C Canal historic district are listed 
below, running west-to-east, and are shown on the accompanying site map. Each 
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inventory entry includes the resource name, address (if applicable) andlor location, 
date@) of construction, VDHR survey number, contributinglnon-contributing status, 
description, and history. 

Great Bridge Lock 1931-1932 1 Contributing Structure 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0001 

Description The Great Bridge Lock is located approximately 750 yards west of the 
Great Bridge Bridge, and is the western terminus of the Virginia Cut of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal. This tidal guard lock is a reversible-head, double-gated structure 600 
feet long and 72 feet wide, with a depth of 16 feet. Its primary function is to prevent 
saltwater intrusion from the Southern Branch of the Elizabeth River into the freshwater 
North Landing River and to control tidal currents from these two rivers. There are two 
sets of metal gates at either end that are used depending on the condition of tides in the 
Elizabeth River or of wind tides coming fiom the North Landing River. The locks are 
operated by the lock-tender from electronic control panels. 

History The first Great Bridge Lock was built by the Albemarle & Chesapeake 
Canal Company in 1859. It was a reversible-head tidal lock built to accommodate varying 
water levels in the Elizabeth and North Landing Rivers, so preventing currents from 
surging back and forth through the Canal. With a chamber measuring 220 feet long and 
40 feet wide, it was the largest such lock on the East Coast and was considered an 
engineering marvel. To accommodate the reversible head, the lock was built with two 
complete sets of solid timber miter gates (8 feet high by 25 feet wide) at each end. The 
lock itself was made of dressed stone blocks cut and shipped from Port Deposit, 
Maryland. Metal gates replaced the wooden ones in 1872. 

The original 1859 Great Bridge Lock survived until 1917, when the Canal was widened. 
For fifteen years thereafter there was no lock, causing bitter complaints from shippers and 
local residents. The Congressional "River and Harbor Act of 1930" authorized and 
appropriated money for the construction of new locks at Great Bridge. Originally 
projected to be 500 feet long by 75 feet wide, the lock design was altered to 600 feet 
shortly thereafter. Maj. G. R. Young, Norfolk District Engineer of the US Army Corps of 
Engineers between 1930 and 1934, was the project manager and overall designer for the 
Great Bridge Lock. Contracts were let on March 2, 193 1 to Merritt, Chapman & Scott of 
Baltimore for the lock proper; on March 7, 1931 to the Berkeley Machine Works of 
Norfolk for the gates; and on May 27 to the Foote Brothers Gear and Machine Company 
of Chicago for the machinery. The Great Bridge Lock was completed on June 16, 1932. 
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Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal 1859 1 Contributing Structure 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0002 
Description The 9.1-mile-long Virginia Cut of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal 
connects the Southern Branch of the Elizabeth River, which empties into the Chesapeake 
Bay, with the North Landing River, which flows into Cumtuck Sound and ultimately, 
into Albemarle Sound, both in North Carolina. The entire inland river-canal route, which 
connects Norfolk, Virginia with Albemarle Sound, runs along the Southern Branch for 
5.2 miles, along the Virginia Cut of the canal for 9.1 miles, and along the North Landing 
River for 13.7 miles. The route of the canal was dug in 1856-1859 and was widened in 
19 13- 19 17. The canal has been dredged periodically since then and was widened along a 
small portion in 1979-1980. The canal bed consists of a channel 90 feet wide and 12 feet 
deep. There is no towpath. At its western end is the canal's sole lock, the 600-foot-long, 
72-foot-wide, and 16-foot-deep Great Bridge Lock (131-5333-0001). The Army Corps of 
Engineers' Great Bridge Reservation, a restricted-entry maintenance facility (151-5333- 
0003 through 00010), also borders the canal on the south. For most of its length, 
swampland and forests border the canal, most of it owned by the US government. 
Material from construction of the canal in 1858-1 859 and later dredging was placed along 
both banks, raising the elevation of the lands in this area. 

Alterations to the 1859 canal include its widening from 80 to 90 feet after the Corps 
acquired the canal property in 1913; removal of the canal lock in 1917 and its 
replacement in 1931-1932; dredging of the channel by the Corps in 1943, 1969, and 
1979-1980; and building riprap near the North Landing Bridge in 1990. In addition, the 
canal has been crossed by several vehicular and railroad bridges since the mid-nineteenth 
century. Presently, five north-south bridges cross the waterway: four vehicular bridges 
(carrying from west to east, Battlefield Boulevard, Route 168, Centerville Turnpike, and 
Route 165) and the Norfolk-Southern Railroad bridge. 

History A canal to connect the Southern and Eastern Branches of the Elizabeth 
River with Albemarle Sound in North Carolina was authorized by the colonial Virginia 
legislature in 1772. A plan for a canal, lock, and drawbridge was drawn in 1774, but was 
not realized because of the Revolutionary War. The Dismal Swamp Canal was built in 
1805, 8 miles to the west. Its many locks and tortuous river approaches stimulated 
renewed interest in building an additional canal to the east. In 1840, engineer Claudius 
Crozet surveyed a route from the Eastern Branch to the Albemarle Sound, but this plan 
too was abandoned. Marshall Parks, Jr. (1820-1900), was the driving force behind the 
incorporation of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company in 1856. The canal was 
one of the first designed for steam-powered vessels and thus had no towpath. It also was 
the first canal in Virginia to be built entirely by steam dredging, rather than by hand 
labor. At its completion in 1859, the canal was considered an engineering marvel, with 
the reversible tidal lock at Great Bridge being the largest such lock on the East Coast. 
The canal came under Union control during the Civil War but survived mostly intact. 
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After the war, the canal company constructed new bridges at Great Bridge, North 
Landing and Coinjock (in North Carolina) in 1868. Competition from the Norfolk- 
Southern Railroad, which built a bridge over the canal in 1880, as well as the rebuilt 
Dismal Swamp Canal, contributed to the fmancial decline of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal. The Federal Government purchased the canal and its appurtenances in 
1913 and incorporated it into the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway system. The Army 
Corps of Engineers, which assumed operation of the canal, widened and dredged the 
canal shortly thereafter, replaced the three road bridges over the canal in 1914-1916, and 
built a small maintenance facility at Great Bridge beginning in 1917. The Great Bridge 
Lock was removed in 19 17, but was replaced by the present lock in 193 1 - 1932. The three 
present swing-bridges over the canal were built between 1941 and 1955. The Corps has 
conducted periodic dredging of the canal to the present. 

Paint and Vehicle Shop 1917 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Reservation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0003 

Description The paint and vehicle shop building is located in the Great Bridge Corps 
of Engineers Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal 
between the Great Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is oriented north-south 
and is a one-story, twelve-bay-long, and two-bay-wide gable-roofed frame building. The 
building is currently covered with corrugated metal siding. Most windows have 10110 or 
919 double-hung sash windows with plain board frames. There is a shed-roofed ell on the 
southeast. A short hyphen joins the building to the carpenter and machine shop building 
on the west. 

History Four years after the US government acquired control of the A&C Canal, 
the US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) began construction of a maintenance facility on 
the south bank of the canal at Great Bridge. This was the first building completed in 1917 
with construction of the facility continuing into the late 1940s. 

Carpenter and Machine Shop 1918 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Reservation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0004 

Description The carpenter and machine shop building is located in the Great Bridge 
Corps of Engineers Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal 
between the Great Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is oriented east-west and 
is a one-story, six-bay-long, and two-bay-wide gable-roofed frame building. The building 
is currently covered with corrugated metal siding. Most windows have 10/10 or 919 
double-hung sash windows with plain board frames. There are large garage doors along 
the north and south elevations. Some of these have been sealed. There are two smaller 
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doors on the north elevation. A short hyphen joins the building to the paint and vehicle 
shop building on the east. 

Shed 1923 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Reservation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0005 

Description The shed building is located in the Great Bridge Corps of Engineers 
Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal between the Great 
Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is located near the south entrance to the 
reservation. The shed is oriented east and is a one-story, gable-roofed frame building 
built on a T plan. The building is currently covered with corrugated metal siding. Most 
windows have 613 or 414 double-hung sash windows with plain board frames. There is an 
entrance on the east topped by a louvered vent. 

Shop (1) 1931 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Reservation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0006 

Description The shop building is located in the Great Bridge Corps of Engineers 
Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal between the Great 
Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is oriented north-south and is a one-story, 
two-bay-long, and two-bay-wide gable-roofed frame building. The building is currently 
covered with vinyl siding. The fixed-sash windows have six lights each. A door with four 
lights is on the south. 

Shop (2) 1940 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Reservation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0007 

Description The shop building is located in the Great Bridge Corps of Engineers 
Reservation, near the reservation entrance on the south side of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal between the Great Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is 
oriented north-south and is a one-story, three-bay-long, and three-bay-wide gable-roofed 
frame building. The building is currently covered with corrugated metal siding. The 
fixed-sash windows have nine lights each. A door with four lights is on the north. 
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Warehouse 1942 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Resewation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0008 

Description The warehouse is located near the south end of the Great Bridge Corps of Engineers 
Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal between the Great Bridge 
Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is oriented east and is a one-and one-half-story, nine-bay-long, 
and two-bay-wide gable-roofed frame building. The building is currently covered with corrugated 
metal siding. Louvered ventlwindows are on the two gable ends. 

Auto Storage 1942 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Resewation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0009 

Description The auto storage building is located near the south end of the Great Bridge Corps of 
Engineers Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal between the Great 
Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is oriented east and is a one-story, four-bay-long, and 
two-bay-wide gable-roofed frame building. The building is currently covered with corrugated metal 
siding. The building is open on the south, with four vehicle bays. A 616 double hung sash window is 
at each gable end. 

Office 1948 1 Contributing Building 
Great Bridge COE Resewation 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0010 

Description The Great Bridge COE Reservation Office is located near the south end of the Great 
Bridge Corps of Engineers Reservation, on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal 
between the Great Bridge Bridge and the Great Bridge Locks. It is a one-story, five-bay-long, and 
two-bay-wide gable-roofed cinderblock building. There is a wooden pedimented portico on the east 
above an enclosed entrance vestibule. Most windows have 111 double-hung sash. There is an 
additional entrance on the west. 

Great Bridge Bridge 1941-1943 1 Non-contributing Structure 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0011 

Description The Great Bridge Bridge is located west of the Corps Great Bridge 
Reservation and the Great Bridge Locks, near the western terminus of the Virginia Cut of 
the Albemarle & Chesapeake (A&C) Canal. The bridge is a two-lane, 180-foot-long, 
double-span, metal swing bridge canying vehicular traffic on Business Route 168 
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(Battlefield Boulevard) over the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway, also the A&C Canal. 
The decking is reinforced concrete and the solid side walls have riveted sheet metal and 
plate girders. The two-story masonry bridge-tender's building is located on the west side 
of the south end. The building is covered with smooth stuccoed concrete block and has a 
flat roof. The first floor contains the swing bridge mechanism and the second floor 
houses the control room and tender's observation area with its tall casement windows. 

History The date of the first Great Bridge, from which the surrounding community 
took its name, is not known. A wooden drawbridge built by the A&C Canal Company in 
1856 was destroyed during the Civil War and was not replaced until 1868. This second 
wooden drawbridge is known to have collapsed at least twice during the nineteenth 
century. Single-lane, metal bascule drawbridges were built for the Corps of Engineers by 
the Penn Bridge Company of Beaver Falls, PA between 1914 and 1916 at Great Bridge. 
Coinjock (NC), and North Landing. These bridges were replaced by the present two-lane 
double-swing spans between 1940 and 1951. Construction of the Great Bridge Bridge 
was begun in August 1941 and completed in August 1943 at a cost of $250,000. The 
present Great Bridge Bridge is in the process of being replaced by a new drawbridge, at 
which time the present bridge will be demolished. 

Site of Great Bridge Battle 1775-1781 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-12 

1 Contributing Site 

Note: The site ofthe Battle of Great Bridge is previously listed in the National Register. 
Description The site of the Battle of Great Bridge is located on both sides of the 
Albemarle and Chesapeake Canal. Route 168 and the Great Bridge Bridge pass through 
the area on a north-south axis, as does the site of the colonial-era bridge and causeway for 
which the battle was named. North of the Great Bridge Bridge is a knoll believed to be 
the site of Lord Dunmore's 1775 fort, where archeological remains may be intact. To the 
west of the site of the causeway lay a small island on which the 1781 star-shaped British 
fort was located, an area mostly destroyed by the construction of the 'A&C Canal in 
1859. 

History The strategic importance of the Great Bridge across the Southern Branch 
of the Elizabeth River led the British to fortify the position in 1775, and again in 1781 
when British troops under General Benedict Arnold occupied Norfolk and Portsmouth. 
The Battle of Great Bridge, the first military engagement of the Revolutionary War in 
Virginia, was fought on 9 December 1775. The brief battle ended in victory for the 
Americans and forced the retreat of Lord Dunmore's troops from the area. The bridge 
area was fortified again in 1781, and the Queen's Rangers under Sir John Graves Simcoe 
were stationed here, but the site saw no further military action. 
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Building, 116 Reservation Road 1962 1 Non-contributing Building 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 5333-13 \ 

Description This building stands on the north side of Reservation Road, just east of the 
entrance to the Army Corps of Engineers Great Bridge Reservation, near the western 
terminus of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal. It is a one-story, five-bay cinderblock 
building originally built as a fire station. There are five garage entrances with metal 
rolling doors on the south. Above the west two bays is a two-bay, gable-roofed frame 
second story. This has two 111 sash windows on the north and south elevations and three 
111 sash windows on the east and west elevations. There is a one-story, two-bay, shed- 
roofed frame wing on the west gable end of the building with an entrance on the south. 

History Chesapeake City building records indicate this building was constructed 
in 1962 and served as the Great Bridge Volunteer Fire Station. The present station on 
Battlefield Boulevard in 1985 replaced it. The building's construction date is outside the 
period of significance for the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District and it is 
therefore a non-contributing resource. 

Atlantic Yacht Basin 1982 1 Non-contributing Building 
2615 Basin Road 
Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0014 

Description The Atlantic Yacht Basin complex is a group of three attached buildings 
located on the south side of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal, to the east of the Great 
Bridge Bridge. Access is by way of a short road leading from Battlefield Boulevard 
(Route 168-Business). The largest building is a tall two-story, two-bay, metal clad, gable- 
roofed boat building facing north. To its west is a one-story, metal-clad, gable-roofed 
storage building. Closest to the canal is the one-story, flat-roofed brick office building. It 
is partially clad with metal siding and has an entrance on the north and south. 

History Located on one of the few pieces of private property fronting directly on the 
Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal, the Atlantic Yacht Basin complex was begun in 1981, 
with the office building completed in 1982, and the docks, storage building, and boat 
building added in 1983. The latter two buildings have been altered by the addition of 
siding in the early 1990s. The complex's construction date is outside the period of 
significance for the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District and it is therefore a 
non-contributing resource. 
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Route 168 Bridge 1981-1992 1 Non-contributing Structure 
East of Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0015 

Description This 65-foot-high, four-lane, high-level reinforced-concrete bridge carries 
Route 168 (Great Bridge Bypass) over the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal, east of Great 
Bridge. The bridge has two spans and has concrete Jersey wall guards. 

History Repeated delays for vehicular traffic crossing the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal on Route 168 (Battlefield Boulevard) over the 1943 Great Bridge 
Drawbridge led to the construction of a Route 168 Bypass to the east of Great Bridge, 
beginning in 1978. To accommodate taller water vessels, the Ciambro Bridge 
Corporation of Pittsfield, Maine built a high-level highway bridge in 1981. The bridge's 
construction date is outside the period of significance for the Albemarle & Chesapeake 
Canal Historic District and it is therefore a non-contributing resource. 

Norfolk-Southern Railroad Bridge 1928 1 Non-contributing Structure 
East of Great Bridge, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-16 

Description The Norfolk-Southem Railroad Bridge is located 1.5 miles east of the 
western terminus of the Albemarle & Chesapeake (A&C) Canal at Great Bridge Bridge 
and 7.6 miles west of the Canal's eastem terminus at the North Landing Bridge. This 13- 
foot-high bridge cames the single-line track of the Norfolk VA to Edenton NC branch of 
the Norfolk-Southem Railroad over the A&C Canal. It is a metal, triple-span, through- 
truss, bascule drawbridge operated by a Sherzer rolling lift mechanism. The central span 
is 94 feet long with two 52.5-foot-long deck-plate girders at either end, bringing the total 
length to 199 feet. Attached to the north end of the drawbridge is a metal gable-roofed 
structure housing the diesel engine that raises and lowers the draw for the passage of the 
Norfolk-Southem's two daily freight trains. 

History The Elizabeth City & Norfolk Railroad (later the Norfolk-Southem 
Railroad) first built a floating swing-type wooden drawbridge, approximately 40-feet- 
long, over the A&C Canal in 1880. The present drawbridge was built by the Atlantic 
Bridge Company of Greensboro NC to accommodate the widening of the Canal to 80 
feet. It opened on 9 October 1928 and remains the only railroad bridge over the A&C 
Canal. 

Although the Norfolk-Southem Railroad Bridge falls within the period of significance for 
the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District, the railroad bridge is historically 
unrelated to the operation of the canal by the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company 
between 1859 and 1913 or the operation of the canal by the US Army Corps between 
1913 to the present. It is a non-contributing structure. 
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Centewille Turnpike (Route 604) Bridge 1955 1 Non-contributing Structure 
Between Great Bridge and North Landing, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 133-5333-17 

Description The Centerville Turnpike (Route 604) Bridge is a two-lane, double-span, 
through-truss metal swing bridge. There is a one-bay, one-story, flat-roofed bridge 
tender's building covered with metal siding on the north side of the bridge. Swinging 
crossing gates are at both ends of the bridge. 

History According to the 1878 Annual Report of the A&C Canal Company, the 
Centewille Turnpike Company constructed and maintained at its own expense a single- 
lane drawbridge. Incorporated into the State Highway system in 1919, Centewille 
Turnpike is also known as Route 604. The present two-lane swing bridge was constructed 
to replace the original bridge in 1955. The bridge's construction date is outside the period 
of significance for the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District and it is therefore 
a non-contributing resource. 

Centewille Marina 1994 1 Non-contributing Building 
102-110 Centewille Turnpike, North 
(Between Great Bridge and North Landing, Chesapeake) 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0018 

Description The Centerville Marina Building is located on the north side of the 
Albemarle & Chesapeake canal, to the east of the north end of the Centewille Turnpike 
Bridge. It is oriented north-south and is a two-story, four-bay frame building with a flat 
and peaked roof. The building is covered with vinyl siding. The building houses a store, 
cafi and rest rooms, as well as an office for the dockmaster. There are wooden exterior 
staircases on the north and west elevations. 

History According to Chesapeake City building permits, the Centewille Marina 
dates to 1994. The building does not appear to have been altered or added onto since that 
date. The building's construction date is outside the period of significance for the 
Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District and it is therefore a non-contributing 
resource. 

House, Route 165 1919 1 Non-contributing Building 
3001 Mt. Pleasant Road 
North Landing, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-0019 

Description This house is located on the west side of Route 165, 200 feet northwest of 
the north end of the North Landing Bridge, near the eastern terminus of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal. Built in 1919, the house is a one-and-one-half-story, three-bay, gable- 
roofed frame house built on a T plan. The roof overhangs on the south to shelter a 
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screened porch. There is a shed-roofed dormer on the south. The house is trimmed with 
wooden knee braces. Most windows have 616 double-hung sash. The gable-roofed north 
wing has an entrance at the east beneath the eaves. 

History According to Chesapeake City deed and tax records, the house was built in 
1919 by Samuel Hodges on land he purchased that year from Ellen Duquesne (Deed 
Book 201, page 12). The US Army Corps of Engineers currently owns the land, which 
leases the house. 

Although this house's construction date falls within the period of significance for the 
Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District, it is historically unrelated to the 
operation of the canal by the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company between 1859 
and 1913 or the operation of the canal by the US Army Corps between 1913 to the 
present. It is a non-contributing building. 

North Landing (Route 165) Bridge 1951 1 Contributing Structure 
North Landing, Chesapeake 
VDHR NO. 131-5333-20 

Description The North Landing (Route 165) Bridge (VDOT Bridge No. 1826) is 
located at the eastern terminus of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District, 
where the Canal meets the North Landing River. The 85-foot-long, two-lane, triple-span, 
metal swing bridge carries vehicular traffic on Route 165 (North Landing Road) over the 
A&C Canal. Swinging guardrails are located at the north and south ends of the bridge. 
The decking is reinforced concrete and the solid sidewalls have riveted sheet metal and 
plate girders. The two-story masonry bridge-tender's building is located on the west side 
of the south end. The tender's building is covered with smooth stuccoed concrete block 
and has a flat roof. The first floor contains the swing bridge mechanism and the second 
floor houses the control room and tender's observation area with tall casement windows. 
There is an entrance on the north from a small parking lot. The bridge and bridge tender's 
building are in good condition. 

Hisrory In 1856, the first bridge over the North Landing River at this location was 
built by the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company. A resident bridge tender operated 
this single-lane wooden drawbridge. Single-lane, metal bascule drawbridges were built 
for the Corps of Engineers by the Penn Bridge Company of Beaver Falls, PA between 
1914 and 1916 at Great Bridge, Coinjock NC, and North Landing. These bridges were 
replaced by the present double-swing spans between 1940 and 195 1. The present North 
Landing Bridge was completed on August 15, 1951 at a cost of $350,000. The bridge was 
damaged by an empty oil barge on April 16,1978 and subsequently repaired. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

The Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District is significant on the state level in 
the areas of Transportation, Engineering and Military, with the period of significance 
being 1775-1953. The beginning date includes the Battle of Great Bridge fought at this 
site in 1775. The Albemarle & Chesapeake (A&C) Canal, completed in 1859, provided 
an inland route for maritime traffic between Norfolk and Portsmouth and North 
Carolina's Albemarle Sound. The A&C Canal is significant for several engineering 
advances: it was the first Virginia canal built entirely with steam-powered dredging 
equipment, and the Great Bridge Lock was the largest such lock on the East Coast. In 
1913, the A&C Canal was purchased by the Federal government and is currently operated 
by the US Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). The A&C Canal remains a major 
transportation artery for commercial traffic in the Tidewater region. The Corps has made 
several improvements to the Canal since 191 3, including construction of the Great Bridge 
facility maintenance complex, the 1931-1932 Great Bridge Canal lock that replaced the 
1859 lock; the 1943 Great Bridge Bridge, and the 1951 North Landing Bridge. 

HISTORY 

The history of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal before 1859 was marked by numerous 
legislative acts, engineering surveys, and failed attempts to construct a canal through the 
eastern half of the Great Dismal Swamp between Norfolk and Albemarle Sound in North 
Carolina. William Byrd suggested the need for such a canal as early as 1728'. In 1772, an 
amendment to "An Act for Opening the Falls of the James River" claimed that "the 
opening of a canal from the head of the southern or eastern branch of the Elizabeth River, 
to the head of the north (Landing) river will greatly increase the commerce of this 
colony," and to this end authorized a survey of possible canal routes and provision of cost 
estimates2 Two canal routes eventually were surveyed: the first ran from the Eastern 
Branch of the Elizabeth River at Kemp's Landing; the second ran from the Southern 
Branch at the important colonial-era settlement at Great Bridge. This latter survey 
(tracing a 6%-mile-long route eventually followed by the Albemarle & Chesapeake 
Canal) was completed in late 1772 by Josiah Ives. 

The strategic importance of the Great Bridge Bridge across the South Branch of the 
Elizabeth River led the British to fortify the position in 1775. This bridge camed traffic 
over 360 yards of marshland and was a vital link in the land route to Norfolk. On 9 
December 1775, British troops under Governor Dunmore fought Patriot soldiers at Great 
Bridge, with the British forced to retreat. The position was refortified again in 1781, 
although there was no more military activity in the Great Bridge area during the 
Revolutionary War. The site of the Battle of Great Bridge (VDHR 131-5333-12) is listed 
in the National Register. 

No further action on this proposed canal was taken until after the end of the Revolution. 
In 1783, an "Act for Cutting a Navigable Canal" was passed by the General Assembly, 
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with much of the same language contained in the 1772 Act. An important milestone was 
reached in 1786, when representatives from Virginia and North Carolina agreed that the 
two states would not impose tolls on their sections of the proposed canal route.3 

A proposal for a competing canal, the Dismal Swamp Canal, was contained in a 1787 act 
to connect the Elizabeth River with the Pasquotank River and Elizabeth City in North 
~ a r o l i n a . ~  This north-south canal was to be located west of the two earlier proposed canal 
routes. Work on this canal commenced in 1793, but was not completed until 1805. The 
nearly 21-mile-long Dismal Swamp Canal was considered inadequate almost from its 
beginning, as it required major lift locks at either end in addition to several 
supplementary locks along its routes. It also was too narrow and shallow for many 
vessels, and contained several curves in its route.' These deficiencies increased calls for 
reviving the proposal for an east-west canal running from Great Bridge to Albemarle 
Sound. 

Proposals for the incorporation of canal companies peaked in Virginia in the first two 
decades of the nineteenth century. In 1809 and again in 18 15, the "Great Coastwise Canal 
and River Navigation company" was incorporated to construct a six-foot-deep canal 
running from the Eastern Branch of the Elizabeth ~ i v e r . ~  Despite being endorsed in an 
1815 report by the U. S. Topographical Engineers, this proposed eastern route was 
abandoned soon thereafter. In 1840, engineer Claudius Crozet surveyed a route running 
from the Southern Branch, but construction of this canal route languished as well.' 

Credit for finally building the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal is usually given to Norfolk 
native Marshall J. Parks, Jr. (1820-1900), the son of a former Chief Engineer of the 
Dismal Swamp canal.' Parks worked to revive two 1850 legislative acts that had 
authorized the Great Bridge Lumber & Canal Company in Virginia and the Albemarle & 
Currituck Canal Company in North ~ a r o l i n a . ~  The 1854 act reauthorizing the Great 
Bridge Lumber and Canal Company permitted the company to construct the "Virginia 
Cut" of the canal, and to own land 100 yards on both sides of the canal. A similar act in 
North Carolina authorized construction of the six-mile-long "North Carolina Cut." At the 
company's first meeting in 1855, Parks was elected its vice-president; one year later he 
became president.'0 On 28 February 1856, the two companies were united and the name 
was changed to the Albemarle & Chesapeake ( A X )  Canal Company. 

As conceived by the canal company, the entire 70-mile-long waterway between Norfolk 
and Albemarle Sound consists of both natural and man-made segments. The Elizabeth 
River runs between Norfolk and the Chesapeake Bay on the west end and the head of its 
southern branch at Great Bridge. The approximately nine-mile-long, man-made Virginia 
Cut of the canal connects Great Bridge to the head of the North Landing River just south 
of Princess Anne County (now the City of Virginia Beach). The North Landing River 
flows in a southeasterly direction from the eastern end of the canal, and empties into 
Currituck Sound in North Carolina. From there the canal follows a route through 
Currituck Sound to the entrance of the man-made North Carolina Cut at Coinjock Bay. 
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The 5%-mile-long North Carolina Cut (constructed simultaneously with the Virginia Cut) 
connects with the North River, which flows southward into Albemarle Sound, the canal's 
eastern terminus. 

In April 1855, Parks hired the New York engineering firm of Courtright, Barton & Co. to 
survey and construct the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal at an estimated cost of 
$800,000." The canal specifications included a depth of 6 feet and a 61-foot width. 
Construction began at several points along the canal route in October 1855. Nine steam- 
powered dredges were used to excavate the canal bed beginning in February 1856, 
marking one of the first instances such machinery had been used in a major engineering 
construction project in the United states.I2 These dredges made possible the excavation 
of the petrified tree stumps that remained after timbering operations along the canal route 
were completed. 

In late 1856, construction began on the only lock required on the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal, the tidal lock located at Great Bridge, at the Virginia Cut's western 
end. This tidal lock was necessary to equalize the water depths throughout the canal and 
to prevent tides from either the North Landing or the Elizabeth River from affecting the 
other river's salinity. This double-gated, reversible-head, masonry guard lock, completed 
in 1859, was the first such lock built in the United States. Measuring 220 feet long, 40 
feet wide, and 8 feet deep, it was the largest such lock on the East Coast until replaced by 
the present Great Bridge Lock in 1931-1932.13 Each of the gates was built of solid timber 
and measured 8 feet high by 25 feet wide. The canal company also undertook the 
replacement of the two wooden bridges at Great Bridge and over the North Landing 
River in Virginia and at Coinjock in North Carolina. The new wooden draw bridges 
allowed for unimpeded passage along the canal route and were completed by 1859. 

Commercial and passenger service was inaugurated on the completed Virginia Cut of the 
canal in late 1859 and along the North Carolina Cut in January 1860. The 1860 financial 
statement of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company claimed that goods shipped 
via the canal included lumber, shingles, corn, cotton, tobacco, and naval stores, among 
others.I4 Service on the canal was disrupted with the onset of the Civil War in 1861, 
causing toll-paying commercial traffic to decline sharply. Confederate forces attempted 
to block the canal, but it was captured by Union forces in 1862 and reopened to both 
commercial and passenger traffic in May 1863." 

The 20-year period between 1866 and 1886 was the A&C Canal Company's most 
prosperous. In 1866,3,640 vessels, paying more than $41,000 in tolls, passed through the 
Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal. Passenger traffic carried on steamboats between 
Norfolk and North Carolina towns increased sharply during these years. By 1873, toll 
receipts had increased to $84,839, with 6,283 steam vessels (both commercial and 
passenger) passing through the A&C  anal.'^ Several improvements were made to the 
three bridges along the canal between 1868 and 1869 and to the Great Bridge lock in 
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1880- 188 1. In 1879 the Centewille Turnpike Company constructed a drawbridge over the 
canal between Great Bridge and North  andi in^." 

Along with the Dismal Swamp Canal, the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal was a critical 
component of the lower Tidewater transportation system after 1859. Goods from the 
North Carolina coast and near inland counties were transported safely to Norfolk and 
Portsmouth without risking passage around the treacherous waters off Cape Hatteras, 
thereby benefiting the economies of both North Carolina and the two Virginia port cities. 
Passenger steamboats from Baltimore and Norfolk traveled through the canal, bringing 
summer visitors to the growing North Carolina communities of Nags Head and Ocracoke. 

Beginning in the 1880s, increased competition from several sources led to declining 
profitability for the A&C Canal Company. The Elizabeth City & Norfolk Railroad (later 
renamed the Norfolk Southern Railroad), chartered in 1870, constructed a swing 
drawbridge on its right-of-way over the canal in 1880." The railroad's route ran between 
Norfolk and Edenton, North Carolina. Numerous independent steamboat lines, carrying 
both passenger and commercial traffic, became affiliated with andlor synchronized with 
the railroad line, with boats serving as feeders for the trains. In 1892, the Lake 
Drummond Canal & Water Company took over the nearly bankrupt Dismal Swamp 
Canal and initiated several important physical improvements to the canal between 1896 
and 1899, increasing economic pressure on the A&C canal.19 In 1890, the A&C Canal 
camed 403,017 tons of freight; by 1906, the canal carried only 95,169 tons, with the 
Dismal Swamp Canal carrying 340,135 tons.20 

Faced with a serious decline in toll receipts, the A&C Canal Company defaulted on its 
debts and its assets were sold at auction in November 1910.~' The company reorganized 
itself as the Chesapeake & Albemarle Canal Company. Among the company's assets 
listed for sale were the canal, with a right-of-way extending 150 feet on both sides 
(although encroached upon by several later transactions), 3 bridge tender's houses, 2 
lockkeeper's houses, and an office. (None of these buildings is still standing). 

At the same time, the Federal government initiated steps to purchase the A&C Canal and 
incorporate it into a proposed inland waterway system, eventually known as the Atlantic 
Intracoastal Waterway. This system of canals, channels, rivers, and bays made it possible 
for small craft to travel the Atlantic Coast safely via a protected inland route.22 The 1910 
River and Harbor Act authorized the Department of the Army to purchase both the A&C 
and Dismal Swamp Canals (the latter was not taken over by the Army until 1 9 2 9 ) . ~ ~  In 
1913, the Virginia Cut of the Canal was sold to the Federal Government for $375,000.~~ 
Excluded from the sale were the A&C's lands located on either side of the canal property 
that had been leased to timber companies since the 1870s, but were otherwise 
unconnected with canal operations. 

Federal ownership increased the A&C Canal's importance to the transportation system of 
lower Tidewater, while integrating it with the national system of canals and waterways of 
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the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway. One of the most important acts was the removal of 
tolls on the A&C Canal after 1913, which made the canal competitive with the railroad 
and the still-private Dismal Swamp Canal. Beginning in 1914, the Army Corps of 
Engineers (Corps) undertook improvements and enlargements to the canal, increasing its 
efficiency, its accessibility, and its ability to handle increased maritime traffic. 

Under the direction of Norfolk District Engineer Ltc. E. Eveleth Winslow, the Corps 
undertook the dredging and widening of the canal during 1914, resulting in a 9-foot depth 
and 50-foot width. In 1914, the Corps signed a contract with the Penn Bridge Company 
of Beaver Falls, Pennsylvania to replace the three existing Corps-owned brid es at Great 
Bridge, North Landing, and Coinjock with longer steel bascde draw bridges? The tidal 
lock at Great Bridge was removed entirely in April 1917 due to the mistaken belief that 
the newly widened canal was no longer affected by the tidal currents from the North 
Landing and Elizabeth Rivers. The Norfolk Southern railroad replaced its 1880 bridge 
across the canal with the present metal bascule drawbridge in 1928. 

Beginning in 1917, the Corps began construction of a small facilities maintenance 
complex at Great Bridge. This complex serves as operations center for both the A&C and 
Dismal Swamp Canals and contributes to the transportation history of the A&C Canal 
during its period of Corps ownership. These buildings house maintenance and repair 
facilities for Corps-owned vessels, administrative offices, and storage facilities. 

Under pressure from local landowners, the Corps initiated a study in 1926 on the 
necessity of building a new lock at Great Bridge. The study concluded that a new lock 
was required. Funds for its construction were appropriated as part of the 1930 Rivers and 
Harbors Act and construction commenced in 1931 under the supervision of Norfolk 
District Engineer Maj. G. R. The present Great Bridge lock was completed in 
1932 at a cost of $500,000; it is 600 feet long, 72 feet wide, and has four sets of douhle- 
miter steel gates with reversible heads. 

Traffic through the canal increased steadily during the 1930s. During World War 11, 
much commercial traffic was diverted to the A&C Canal due to threats from German U- 
boats operating off the coast of North Carolina; freight tonnage increased from 823,000 
to over 1 million between 1940 and 1943.~' The Corps replaced its two single-lane 
drawbridges over the canal in Virginia with the present two-lane swing bridges beginning 
in 1943. The Great Bridge Bridge dates from 1943 and the North Landing Bridge from 
1951.28 TWO additional bridges-the Centerville Turnpike (1955) and the 65-foot high, 
fixed-span Route 168 Bridge (1982thave been built to cany vehicular traffic over the 
canal. 
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

The boundary for the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District is shown on the 
accompanying map labeled "Boundary-Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District." Source for 
the boundary map is City of Chesapeake Assessor's Office, Tax Maps 48,49,50,50A, and 51. The 
linear district contains 1,704 acres and extends 9.1 miles long and is 300 feet wide. The west and 
east termini of the district; i.e., the Great Bridge Lock and the North Landing (Route 165) Bridge 
respectively, mark the ends of the man-made portion of the Virginia Cut of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal where they meet the headwaters of the Southern Branch of the Elizabeth River 
and the North Landing River. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The boundary for the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District is drawn to include the 9.1- 
mile-long, 90-foot-wide canal and adjacent property of approximately 100 feet on either side 
acquired by the United States government from the Chesapeake & Albemarle Canal Company 
(formerly the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Company) in 1913. The nominated boundaries include 
the canal and other contributing resources directly associated with the operation of the Albemarle & 
Chesapeake Canal between 1859 and 191 3 andor with its operation by the United States government 
as part of the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway between 191 3 and the present. 
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Photographs 
All photographs are of the Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal Historic District, 

Chesapeake, Virginia 
Photographer: Geoffrey B. Henry, CAI Consultants, Inc. 28 August 2002 

(Negatives located at Virginia Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, VA under 
Negative Number 203 13) 

Photograph 1 View of Great Bridge Locks, looking southwest 

Photograph 2 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Paint and vehicle shop (left) and 
carpenter and machine shop (right), looking southwest 

Photograph 3 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Paint and vehicle shop (left) and 
carpenter and machine shop (right), looking southwest 

Photograph 4 Great Bridge Bridge, looking southeast 

Photograph 5 Albemarle & Chesapeake Canal, looking west from Great Bridge 

Photograph 6 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Shed, looking west 

Photograph 7 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Shop, looking east 

Photograph 8 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Shop, looking south 

Photograph 9 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Warehouse, looking west. 

Photograph 10 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Auto storage, looking west 

Photograph 11 Great Bridge COE Reservation. Office, looking southwest 

Photograph 12 Centerville Marina, looking southwest 

Photograph 13 A&C Canal. Looking west from Centerville Turnpike Bridge 

Photograph 14 Centerville Turnpike Bridge, looking southeast 

Photograph 15 Atlantic Yacht Basin, looking east 

Photograph 16 A&C Canal, looking east toward Route 168. 

Photograph 17 116 Reservation Road, looking northeast. 
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Photograph 18 House, Route 165 (3001 Mt. Pleasant Rd), looking north 

Photograph 19 A&C Canal, looking west from North Landing Bridge 

Photograph 20 North Landing Bridge, looking south 

Photograph 2 1 East terminus of canal, looking east from North Landing Bridge 

Photograph 22 Norfolk-Southern Railroad Bridge, looking south. 

Photograph 23 A&C Canal, looking west from Norfolk-Southem Railroad Bridge 
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Color Slide Photographs 
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A&C Canal looking west from North Landing Bridge 
North Landing River where it meets the A&C Canal at North Landing, 
looking east. 
North Landing Bridge, looking west. 
North Landing Bridge, looking south. 
Centerville Turnpike Bridge (non-contributing), looking southeast. 
A&C Canal. Looking west from Centerville Turnpike Bridge 
Great Bridge Bridge swing apparatus in motion, looking east. 
1943 Great Bridge (front), new bridge under construction (back). 
A&C Canal, basin at Great Bridge, looking south. 
Great Bridge Corps of Engineers Reservation, looking south. 
Great Bridge Corps of Engineers Reservation, looking northwest. 
Great Bridge Lock, east end, looking southwest. 
Great Bridge Lock, west end, looking east. 
South branch of Elizabeth River where it meets the A&C Canal at Great 
Bridge, looking west. 












